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NESTLE UK LTD.

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Introduction

The directors present the Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Business review

The performance achieved during the period is set out in the Profit and Loss Account on page 7.

The results of the Company show a pre-tax profit of £97,716,000 (2017 - £185,247,000 as restated) for the year and
turnover increased year on year by 3.0% to £1,631,817,000 (2017 - £1,584,770,000).

The 2018 results include net costs arising from the movement in provisions relating to the reorganising and restructuring of
the business of £4,530,000 (2017 - £14,248,000). This was reduced by a credit of £5,339,000 in respect of a curtailment of
pension benefits.

The Company has net assets of £1,202,618,000 (2017 - £1,364,586,000 as restated).

Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business of the Company and the execution of its strategy are subject to a number of risks and

uncertainties, including a difficult economic environment, a strong competitive environment, currency fluctuations, further
trade consoclidation, product innovation, employee retention and volatility in input costs.

This report was approved by the board on 17 June 2019 and signed on its behalf.

@W\UQSQMM&

D. Mc¢Daniel
Director

Page 1



NESTLE UK LTD.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018,
Principal activity

The Company is the principal trading company for the subsidiaries of Nestlé 5.A. that are located within the United
Kingdom. Nestl¢ S.A. is the world's leading nutrition, health and wellness company.

Results and dividends
The profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to £88,134,000 (2017 - £163,470,000).

The directors have not recommended the payment of a dividend (2017 - £455,000,000). A dividend of £455,000,000 was
paid during 2018.

Impact of Brexit

On 29 March 2017, the UK government invoked Article 50 of the Treaty of Lisben, notifying the European Council of its
intention to withdraw from the European Union (the "EU"). There was an initial two-year timeframe for the UK and the EU
to reach an agreement on the withdrawal and the future UK and EU relationship, although this timeframe has now been
extended to 31 Getober 2019.

Following the UK referendum vote to teave the EU in June 2016, the value of sterling weakened against major currencies,
resulting in an adverse foreign exchange impact, particularly on purchases from the Eurozone.

Two years on from the decision, there is still significant uncertainty about the withdrawal process, its time frame and the
future arrangements between the UK and the EU. The negotiated agreement has been rejected on three occasions in
Parltament and there is great uncertainty as to when, and in what form, an agreement will successfully pass through
Parliament. As a result of this uncertainty, the performance of the Company's subsidiaries may be adversely affected.

The process and the eventual outcome of the negotiations will also introduce exposures to the economy as a whole, fo
which the performance of the Company, through its subsidiary companies, is inherently linked. In the short term there is
some exposure to an upturn in inflation connected to the weakened sterling. This inflationary impact has begun to be seen
but the medium to long term exposures are currently uncertain and will depend on the outcome of exit negotiations in the
next year.

Directors
The directors who served during the year were:

F. Kendrick (resigned 31 December 2018)
D. Hix

M. McKenzie

N. Stephens

S. Stewart (resigned 1 April 2018)

D. McDaniel

S Agostint

Environmental matters

The Company seeks to develop business practices and behaviour that meet the highest standards of responsibility towards
the environment. The Company sees conservation and development as mutually reinforcing each other in pursuit of
sustainable growth. The Company seeks to go beyond mere compliance with the law, which it willingly embraces, to
achieve, in particular, savings of energy and resources, and the reduction of waste and effluent in all its forms.

Future developments
The external environment is expected to remain competitive and challenging in 2019. Higher commeodity prices and other

costs will continue to put significant pressure on the Company.
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NESTLE UK LTD.
DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Employee involvement

Employees are recognised as key assets of the Company and their quality and motivation are essential for the Company to
compete successfully in its markets. To help achieve corporate aims and objectives the Company maintains and develops
formal and informal systems of communication with its employees to discuss matters of mutual interest. Information on
matters of concern to employees is given through bulletins, meetings, reports and newsletters, and includes information to
enable them to gain awareness of financial and economic factors affecting the Company.

Matters covered in the strategic report

The business review and principal risks and uncertainties for the Company are included in the Strategic Report.

Disclosure of information to auditor

Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors' Report is approved has confirmed that:

. so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware, and

. the director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

Post balance sheet events

There have been no significant events affecting the Company since the year end that would require disclosure in these
financial statements.

Auditor

The auditor, KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the
Companies Act 2006.

This report was approved by the board on 17 June 2019 and signed on its behalf.

P

D. McDaniel
Director
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NESTLE UK LTD.
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE STRATEGIC REPORT, THE DIRECTORS' REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors' Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they have
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance UK accounting standards and applicable law (UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework,

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

. make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements;

. assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going

concein;, and

. use the going concem basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such
internal centrol as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to
them to safeguard the assets of the company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the

Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NESTLE UK LTD.

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Nestlé UK Ltd. ("the Company") for the year ended 31 December 2018 which
comprise the Profit and Loss Account, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes, including the

accounting policies in note 1.

In our opinion the financial statements:

. give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of its profit for the year
then ended;

. have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework; and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law.
QOur responsibilities are described below, We have fulfilted our ethical respensibilities under, and are independent of the
Company in accordance with UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

The impact of uncertainties due to the UK exiting the European Union on our audit

Uncertainties related to the effects of Brexit are relevant to understanding our audit of the financial statements. All audits
assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors, and related disclosures and the appropriateness
of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements. All of these depend on assessments of the future
economic environment and the Company's future prospects and performance.

Brexit is one of the most significant economic events for the UK, and at the date of this report its effects are subject to
unprecedented levels of uncertainty of outcomes, with the full range of possible effects unknown. We applied a
standardised firm-wide approach in response to that uncertainty when assessing the Company’s future prospects and
performance, However, no audit should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible future implications
for a company and this is particularly the case in relation to Brexit.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the
Company or to cease its aperations, and as they have concluded that the Company’s financial position means that this is
realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its
ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going
concern period™).

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is inappropriate
or there is an undisclosed material uncettainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at
least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we
considered the inherent risks to the Company’s business model, including the impact of Brexit, and analysed how those
risks might affect the Company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. We
have nothing to report in these respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference to a material
uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the Company will continue in operation.

QOther information

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the Strategic Report and Directors' Report. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements
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NESTLE UK LTD.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NESTLE UK LTD.

audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit
knowledge. Based solely on that work:

. we have not identified material misstatements in the other information;

. in our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report for the financial year is
consistent with the financial statements; and

. in our opinion, those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

. the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 4, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and (o issue our opinion in an auditor's report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www, frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Hugh Green (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of /\
KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London, E14 5GL

17 June 2019 {7 :S—uvl., 9@‘7
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NESTLE UK LTD.

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2018

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Distribution costs
Administrative expenses

Operating profit

Income from shares in group companies

Income from participating interests

Impairment of investment in subsidiary company
Interest receivable and similar income

Interest payable and similar charges

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

Taxation on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities

Profit for the year

Note

The notes on pages 13 to 48 form part of these financial statements.

As restated

2018 2017
£000 £000
1,631,817 1,584,770
(1,408,997)  (1,291,381)
222,820 293,389
(102,895) (95,656)
(61,083) (62,300)
58,842 135,433
196,966 613,000
36 5,541
(121,834) (522,932)
1,359 1,835
(37,653) (47,630)
97,716 185,247
(9,582) (21,777)
88,134 163,470
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NESTLE UK LTD.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20138

As restated

2018 2017
£000 £000
Profit for the financial year 88,134 163,470
Other comprehensive income;
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Actuarial gain on defined benefit schemes 246,876 291,856
Movement of deferred tax relating to pension deficit (48,221) (48,464)
Movement in hedging reserve 7,708 5,157
Movement of deferred tax relating to hedging reserve (1,465) (979)
204,898 247,670

Total comprehensive income for the year 293,032 411,140

The notes on pages 13 to 48 form part of these financial statements,
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NESTLE UK LTD.

REGISTERED NUMBER: 51491
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Fixed assets

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Investments

Tangible Fixed Assets

Current assets

Stocks
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
Bank and cash balances

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current liabilities

Total assets Iess current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than
one year

Provisions for liabilities

Deferred taxation

Other provisions

Pension liability
Net assets

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital

Share premium account
Other reserves

Profit and loss account

Note

12

15
14

17
18

20

21
22

23
24
24
24

2018
£000

401
1,146,814
873,031
573,168

2,593,414

146,654
605,569
942

753,165
(768,349)

(15,184)

2,578,230

(1,324,927)

1,253,303

(25,813)
(12,377)

(38,190)

(12,495)

1,202,618

130,000
211,446

3,256
857,916

1,202,618

As restated
2017
£000

537
1,146,814
1,005,314

605,220

2,757,885

171,582
820,175
57,379

1,049,136

{1,272,628)
(223,492)

2,534,393

(853,635)

1,680,758

(21,287)
(14,556)

(35,843)

(280,329)

1,364,586

130,000
211,446

(2,987)
1,026,127

1,364,586
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NESTLE UK LTD.
BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on 17 June
2419,

Drdauniel

D. Mc¢Daniel
Director

The notes on pages 13 to 48 form part of these financial statements.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

At 1 January 2018 (as previously stated)
Prior year adjustment {(see notes 1.7 and 29)

At 1 January 2018 (as restated)

Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year

Actuarial gains on pension scheme

Taxation in respect of items of other comprehensive
income
Movement on hedging reserve

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends: Equity capital

Total transactions with owners

At 31 December 2018

The notes on pages 13 to 48 form part of these financial statements.

Called up Share Profit and
share premium Other loss Total
capital account reserves account equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
130,000 211,446 (2,987) 1,030,722 1,369,181
- - - (4,595) (4,595)
130,000 211,446 (2,987) 1,026,127 1,364,586
- - - 88,134 88,134
- - - 198,655 198,655
- - (1,465%) - (1,465)
] ; 7,708 - 7,708
- - 6,243 198,655 204,898
- - 6,243 286,789 293,032
- - - (455,000)  (455,000)
- - - (455,000)  (455,000)
211,446 3,256 857,916 1,202,618

130,000

——— —i | ——
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NESTLE UK LTD.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

At | January 2017 (as previously stated}
Prior year adjustment (see notes 1.7 and 29)

At 1 January 2017 (as restated)

Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year as restated

Actuarial gains on pension scheme

Taxation in respect of items of other
comprehensive income
Movement on hedging reserve

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends: Equity capital

Total transactions with owners

At 31 December 2017

The notes on pages 13 to 48 form part of these financial statements.

Called up Share Profit and
share premium Other loss Total
capital account reserves account equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
130,000 211,446 (7,165) 889,244 1,223,525
- - - (5,079) 5,079
130,000 211,446 (7,165) 884,165 1,218,446
- - - 163,470 163,470
- - - 243,492 243,492
. - 979) - (979)
- ] 5,157 . 5,157
- - 4,178 243,492 247,670
- - 4,178 406,962 411,140
- - - (265,000) (265,000)
- - - (265,000) (265,000}
130,000 211,446 2,987y 1,026,127 1,364,586
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1. Accounting policies

1.1

1.2

1.3

Basis of preparation of financial statements
Nestl¢ UK Ltd., (the "Company”) is a company incorperated and domiciled in the United Kingdom,

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework {("FRS 101"}, The amendments to FRS 101 (2013/14 Cycle) issued in July 2045 and
effective immediately have been applied.

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ("Adcpted IFRSs™), but
makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below
where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The Company is exempt from the obligation to prepare and deliver group accounts.

Financial reperting standard 101 - reduced disclosure exemptions

The Company's ultimate parent undertaking, Nestlé S.A. includes the Company in its consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements of Nestlé S.A. are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained from Nestlé Headquarters,
CHI800, Vevey, Switzerland.

The company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:

. the requirements of paragraphs 45(b) and 46-52 of IFRS 2 Share based payment
. the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
. the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

. the requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’ to present comparative
information in respect of:

- paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1;
- paragraph 73(e) of [AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment;
- paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 Intangible Assets;

. the requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10{f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 38D, 40A, 40B, 40C, 40D, 111 and
134-136 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

. the requirements of [AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

. the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors

. the requirements of paragraph 17 and 18A of [AS 24 Related Party Disclosures

. the requirements in [AS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered inte
between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the
transaction is wholly owned by such a member

. the requirements of paragraphs 130(f)(ii), 130(H)(iii), 134(d)-134(f} and 135(c}-135(e) of IAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

Associates and joint ventures

Associates and Joint ventures are valued using the equity method.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies (continued)

1.4

1.5

1.6

Going concern

The Company's business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance
and position, are set out in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report on pages 1 to 3.

The Company is expected to generate positive cash flows on its own account for the foreseeable future. The
Company participates in the group's centralised treasury arrangements and so shares banking arrangements
with its parent and fellow subsidiaries.

The Company has net current liabilities of £22,343,000 including amounts payable to other Nestlé S.A. group
undertakings of £464,687,000. Nestlé Holdings {(U.K.) PLC, the parent company of Nestl¢ UK Ltd., has
provided the Company with an undertaking that for at least twelve months from the date of the approval of
these financial statements, it will continue to provide financial and other support to enable the Company to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and that repayment of the above loans will not be
sought if it would impede the Company's ability to meet its obligations to third parties and operate as a going
concert.

The directors, having assessed the responses of the directors of the Company's parent, Nestlé Holdings (U.K.)
PLC to their enquires, have no reason to believe that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt about the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern or its ability to continue with the
current banking arrangements.

On the basis of their assessment of the Company's financial position and of enquiries made to the directors of
Nestlé Holdings (U.K.) PLC, the Company’s directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be
able to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the geing
concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when control is transferred to a customer, Factors that may indicate the point in time at
which control is transferred include, but are not limited to:

. the Company has a present right to payment for the asset;

. the customer has tegal title to the asset;

. the Company has transferred physical possession of the asset;

. the customer has the significant risks and rewards related to the ownership of the asset; and
. the customer has accepted the asset,

Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration which the Company expects to receive, based on the list
price applicable to a given distribution channel after deduction of returns, sales taxes, pricing allowances,
other trade discounts and couponing and price promotions to consumers.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the total acquisition date fair value
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

Cost comprises the fair value of assets given, liabilities assumed and equity instruments issued.

Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset and is not amortised. Instead it is reviewed annually for
impairment with any impairment in carrying value being charged to profit or loss. The Companies Act 2006
requires acquired goodwill to be reduced by provisions for depreciation calculated to write off the amount
systematically over a period chosen by the directors, not exceeding its useful economic life. It has been
deemed, however, the non-amortisation of goodwill is a departure, for the overriding purpose of giving a true
and fair view. The effect of this departure has not been quantified because it is impracticable and, in the
opinion of the directors, would be misleading.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies (continued)

1.7 [mpact of new international reporting standards, amendments and interpretations

1.8

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

There have been no material impacts on the Company's financial statements as a result of adopting IFRS 9
from 1 January 2018,

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
From | January 2018, the Company has applied IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method.

There have been no material impacts on the Company's financial statements as a result of adopting IFRS 15
from 1 January 2018,

IFRS 16 Leases
The directors have decided on the early adoption of IFRS 16 - Leases. IFRS 16 introdues a single lessee
accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for almost all leases and has therefore

resulted in an increase of property, plant and machinery and total financial debt at | January 2017.

This standard is mandatory for the accounting period beginning in 1 January 2019, but the Company early
adopted it on 1 January 2018, under the full retrospective approach.

The new accounting policy is set out in Note 1.19. 2017 comparatives have been restated {seec Note 29).
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
The Company has early adopted IFRIC 23 relating to probable tax amounts in the financial statements.

There has been no material impacts on the Company's financial statements as a result of adopting IFRIC 23
from January 2018.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.

The Company adds to the carrying amount of an item of fixed assets the cost of replacing part of such an item
when that cost is incurred, if the replacement part is expected to provide incremental future benefits to the
Company. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit er loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies (continued)

1.8

1.9

1.10

1.11

1.12

Tangible fixed assets (continued)

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided on the following basis:

Freehold property - 2% - 4%
L/Term Leasehold property - 4%

Plant & machinery - 6.66%-33.33%
System development costs - 20%

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if
appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised in the Profit and Loss Account.

Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are assessed at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is any indication that the assets are impaired. Where there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired, the carrying value of the asset (or cash-generating unit to which the asset has been allocated) is
tested for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's (or CGU's) fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows {CGUs). Non-financial assets that have been previously
impaired are reviewed at each balance sheet date to assess whether there is any indication that the impairment
losses recognised in prior periods may no longer exist or may have decreased.

Valuation of investments

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment.

Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, being the estimated selling price less costs to
complete and sell. Cost is based on the cost of purchase on a first in, first out basis. Work in progress and
finished goods include labour and attributable overheads.

At cach balance sheet date, stocks are assessed for impairment. If stock is impaired, the carrying amount is
reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell. The impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Debtors

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment, Loans receivable are measured

initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies (continued)

.13

1.14

1.15

1.16

1.17

Creditors

Creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers.

Creditors are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method,

Hedge accounting

The Company has entered into currency forward contracts to manage its exposure to fluctuations in the value
of foreign currencies. In addition the Company utilises the futures market to stabilise the long term price of
major raw materials.

These derivatives are measured at fair value at each balance sheet date. To the extent that the hedge is
effective, movements in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in a separate
hedge reserve. The results of ineffective hedges are recognised in the Profit and Loss Account.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentatien currency

The Company's functional and presentational currency is GBP.
Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions.

At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. Non-monetary items
measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction and non-
monetary items measured at fair value are measured using the exchange rate when fair value was determined.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised
in the Profit and Loss Account except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow
hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the
Profit and Loss Account within ’finance income or costs’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the Profit and Loss Account within ‘other operating income'.

Finance costs

Finance costs are charged to the Profit and Loss Account over the term of the debt using the effective interest
method so that the amount charged is at a constant rate on the carrying amount, Issue costs are initially
recognised as a reduction in the proceeds of the associated capital instrument.

Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim equity dividends are recognised
when paid. Final equity dividends are recognised when approved by the shareholders at an annual general
meeting. There will be a disclosure in the notes to the financial statements of dividends proposed or declared
which were not recognised in the financial statements, if this happens prior to the financial statements being
authorised for issue.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies (continued)
1.18 Equity compensation plans

The Company has equity-settled share-based transactions. The share-based transactions are settled with shares
or with reference to shares of Nestlé S.A. and not Nestlé UX Ltd.

Equity-settled share-based transactions are recognised in the Profit and Loss Account over the vesting period.
They are fair valued at grant date and measured using generally accepted pricing models. The cost of equity-
settled share-based transactions is adjusted annually by the expectations of vesting, for the forfeitures of the
participants' rights that no longer satisfy the plan conditions as well as for early vesting.

At the end of each year the Company calculates the liability in respect equity-settled share-based transactions
with the movement in the liability being recognised as a charge or credit to the Profit and Loss Account.

1.19 Leases: the Company as a lessee

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. This assessment
involves the exercise of judgement about whether it depends on a specified asset, whether the Company
obtains substantially all the economic benefits from the use of that asset, and whether the Company has the
right to direct the use of the asset.

The Company recognises a right-of-use (ROU) asset and lease liability at the lease commencement date,
except for short term leases of 12 months or less which are expensed in the Profit and Loss account on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.

At inception, the ROU asset comprises the initial lease liability, initial indirect costs and the obligations to
refurbish the asset, less any incentives granted by the lessors. The ROU asset is depreciated over the shorter of
the lease term or the useful life of the underlying asset. The ROU asset is subject to testing for impairment if
there is an indicator for impairment, as for owned assets.

ROU assets are included in the headings "Long term leasehold property" and "Long term leaschold plant and
machinery" and the lease liability is included in the headings "Current financial debt” and "Non-current
financial debt®.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies {continued)

1.20

1.21

1.22

1.23

Pensions
Defined benefit plan

The Company operates a defined benefit plan for certain employees for the Nestlé group companies in the
United Kingdom. A defined benefit plan defines the pension benefit that the employee will receive on
retirement, usvally dependent upon several factors including but not limited to age, length of service and
remuneration. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan.

The liability recognised in the Balance Sheet in respect of the defined benefit plan is the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the end of the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets at the balance
sheet date (if any) out of which the obligations are to be settled. The defined benefit obligation is calculated
using the projected unit credit method. Annually the Company engages independent actuaries to calculate the
obligation. The present value is determined by discounting the estimated future payments using market yields
on high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in sterling and that have terms approximating to the
estimated period of the future payments ("discount rate’).

The fair value of plan assets is measured in accordance with the FRS 101 fair value hierarchy and in
accordance with the Company's policy for similarly held assets. This includes the use of appropriate valuation
techniques. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive income. These amounts together with the return
on plan assets, less amounts included in net interest, are disclosed as 'Remeasurement of net defined benefit
liability'.

The cost of the defined benefit plan, recognised in the Profit and Loss Account as 'employee costs', except
where included in the cost of an asset, comprises:

a) the increase in net pension benefit liability arising from employee service during the period; and

b) the cost of plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is recognised in profit or loss as a 'finance expense’,

Interest income

Interest income is recognised in the Profit and Loss Account using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in the Profit and Loss Account in the year in which they are incurred.
Provisions for liabilities

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Company a legal or constructive obligation
that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefit, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation,

Provisions are charged as an expense to the Profit and Loss Account in the year that the Company becomes
aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the expenditure

required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Accounting policies (continued)

1.24 Current and deferred taxation

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Profit and Loss
Account, except that a change attributable to an item of income and expense recognised as other
comprehensive income or to an item recognised directly in equity is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company operates and generates
income.

Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed
by the Balance Sheet date, except that:

. The recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that it is probable that they will be
recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits; and

. Any deferred tax balances are reversed if and when all conditions for retaining associated fax
allowances have been met.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

balance sheet date.

Turnover

Analysis of turnover by country of destination:

2018 2017
£000 £000
United Kingdom 1,262,629 1,218,420
Rest of Europe 245,857 255,668
Rest of the world 123,331 110,682
1,631,817 1,584,770
Operating profit

The operating profit is stated after charging:
As restated
2018 2017
£000 £000
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 59,364 53,201
Impairment of tangible fixed assets 3,741 13,728
Amortisation of intangible assets, including goodwill 136 136
Net pension cost {see note 28) 34,840 31,808
Loss on sale of fixed assets 1,155 590
Business restructuring and reorganisation ( see note 11) (809) 14,248
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Auditor's remuneration

2018 2017
£000 £000
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates for the audit of the
Company's annual financial statements 205 200
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates in respect of;
All other services 190 138
190 138
Employees
Staff costs, including directors' remuneration, were as follows:
2018 2017
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 218,155 224211
Social security costs 22,907 23,697
Cost of pension schemes {note 28) 40,956 47,806
282,018 295,714
The average monthly number of employees, including the directors, during the year was as follows:
2018 2017
No. No.
Production 3,067 3,332
Administration, distribution and sales 1,698 1,685
4,765 5,017
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Directors' remuneration

2018 2017
£000 £000
Directors' emoluments 3,031 3,017

3,031 3,017

The highest paid director received remuneration of £821,010 (2017 - £741,851).

The value of the company's contributions paid to a defined contribution pension scheme in respect of the highest
paid director amounted to £42,024 (2017 - £NIL}.

The value of the company's contributions paid to a defined benefit pension scheme in respect of the highest paid
director amounted to £NIL (2017 - £NIL).

During the year 5 directors received shares under the long term incentive schemes (2017 - 6).

The total accrued pension provision of the highest paid director at 31 December 2018 amounted to £92,315 (2017 -
£NIL).

As at 31 December 2018, 5 directors {2017 - 5) had accrued defined benefit pension obligations. Of these, no
directors {2017 - no directors) accrued further amounts during the year,

The highest paid director was granted 4,008 shares awarded by Nestlé S.A. (2017 - 4,368) under a long-term
incentive scheme.

Interest receivable

2018 2017
£000 £000
Interest on cash pooling arrangement 873 1,327
Interest due from associate undertakings 459 484
Other interest receivable 27 24

1,359 1,835
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Interest payable and similar expenses

Bank interest payable

Other loan interest payable

Interest payable on cash pooling arrangement

Loans from group undertakings

Leases and hire purchase contracts

Interest payable on defined benefit pension liability {note 28)

Interest payable on unfunded defined benefit pension liability (note 28)
[nterest payable on post retirement benefits (note 28)

Taxation

Corporation tax

Current tax on profits for the year
Adjustments in respect of previous periods
Total current tax

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences
Changes to tax rates

Deferred tax relating to prior years

Total deferred tax

Taxation on profit on ordinary activities

As restated

2018 2017
£000 £000
3 -
3,190 4,077
268 52
27,410 26,644
666 859
5,740 15,620
305 308
71 70
37,653 47,630
2018 2017
£000 £000
(5,898) 10,948
(1,262} 1,633
(7,160 12,581
16,315 12,293
388 2,971)
39 (126)
16,742 9,196
9,582 21,777
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

Taxation (continued)

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year is lower than (2017 - lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of

19.00% (2017 - 19.25%). The differences are explained below:

2018 2017
£000 £000
Profit before tax 97,716 185,247
Profit multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19.00% (2017 -
19.25%) 18,566 35,660
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 28,458 103,089
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods (1,223} 1,507
Non-taxable income (37,423 (117,997}
Transfer to unrecognised tax asset 816 2,582
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16 - (93)
Change in tax rate 338 (2,971)
21,777

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year 9,582
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Taxation (continued)

Factors that may affect future tax charges

The main rate of UK corporation tax for the year was 19% effective since | April 2017. Legislation to further reduce
the main rate of corporation tax from 19% to 17% with effect from 1 April 2020, was included in Finance Act 2016,
The effect of the rate reductions on the deferred tax balances as at 31 December 2018 has been considered in
calculating the figures above.

The company has an unrecognised temporary difference in respect of gross capital losses of £235.0 million (2017 -
£234.9 million). These losses have not been recognised as there is considered insufficient evidence of future capital
profits against which the losses can be offset. These losses have no expiry date.

Dividends
2018 2017
£000 £000
Paid to Nestl¢ Holdings (U.K.) PLC 455,000 265,000

455,000 265,000

Restructuring and reorganisation costs

A provision in respect of factory reorganisations totalling £4,600,000 (2017 - 16,495,000} was created in 2018 and
was allocated to Cost of Sales. This was reduced by a credit of £5,339,000 (2017 - £2,895,000) in respect of a
curtailment of pension benefits. In addition, a surplus provision of £2,000,000 (2017 - £777,000) in respect of a
factory restructuring project was credited to Cost of Sales.

Net business restructuring costs of £1,930,000 (2017 - £1,425,000) were allocated to administrative expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Intangible assets

Systems
Development
£000
Cost
At 1 January 2018 56,175
At 31| December 2018 56,175
Amortisation
At 1 January 2018 55,638
Charge for the year 136
At 31 December 2018 55,774
Net book value
At 3] December 2018 401
At 3] December 2017 537
Goodwill
2018
£000
Cost
Goodwill - cost b/fwd 1,146,814
1,146,814
Amortisation
At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 -
1,146,814

The Goodwill relates mainly to the acquisition of The Nestle Company in 1992, This included soluble coffee brands
including Nescafé, Gold Blend and Blend 37 and the confectionery brands of Milky Bar, Dairy Crunch and Animal
Bar. There is also goodwill relating to the acquisition of PNutri.

Management has reviewed the value of these brands and performed impairment analyses based on expected future
cash flows, using discount rates derived by Nestlé SA, forecasts approved by management and terminal growth rates
that have been determined to reflect the long-term view of the nominal evolution of the business. Management
believes that no reasonably possible change in these key assumptions would cause the recoverable amount to fall
below the carrying value.
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Tangible fixed assets

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2018 (as
previously stated}

Prior Year Adjustment

At | January 2018 (as restated)
Additions

Transfers intra group
Disposals

Transfers between classes

At 31 December 2018

Depreciation

At | January 2018 (as
previously stated)

Prior Year Adjustment

At 1 January 2018 (as restated)

Charge for the year on owned
assets

Charge for the year on leased
assets

Transfers intra group
Drisposals
Impairment charge

At 31 December 2018

Net book value

At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2017 (as
restated)

Long term
Freehold Leasehold Plant & Leased plant
property Property machinery & machinery Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £0600
275,351 15,184 989,795 - 1,280,330
- 52,769 - 18,254 71,023
275,351 67,953 989,795 18,254 1,351,353
3,270 - 28,175 665 32,110
- - (169) - (169}
(19} - (53,605) (671) (54,295)
2,720 - (2,720) - -
281,322 67,953 961,476 18,248 1,328,999
109,833 13,665 600,410 - 723,908
- 12,977 - 9,248 22,225
109,833 26,642 600,410 9,248 746,133
7,342 - 43,646 - 50,938
- 4,626 - 3,750 8,376
- - (310) - (310)
(19 - (52,458) 620) (53,097)
- - 3,741 - 3,741
117,156 31,268 595,029 12,378 755,831
164,166 36,685 366,447 5,870 573,168
165,518 41,311 389,385 9,006 605,220
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Fixed asset investments

Cost or valuation
At ] January 2018
Additions

Share of profit/(loss)

At 31 December 2018
Impairment

At | January 2018
Charge for the period

At 31 December 2018

Net baok value

At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2017

NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Investments
in subsidiary  Investments
companies  in associates Tatal
£000 £000 £000
1,500,499 27,747 1,528,246
- 36 36
- (10,485) (10,485)
1,500,499 17,298 1,517,797
522,932 - 522,932
121,834 - 121,834
644,766 - 644,766
855,733 17,298 873,031
977,567 27,747 1,005,314

Following the payment of a dividend from Wynutri Limited, the carrying value of this investment in the books of
Nestlé UK Ltd was impaired.
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Subsidiary undertakings and participating interests

Subsidiary undertakings

The following were subsidiary undertakings of the Company:

Name

Nespresso UK Limited

Nestlé [reland Limited

Nestlé Purina Petcare UK Limited

Nestlé UK Pension Reservoir Trust Limited
Nestlé¢ UK Pension Trust Limited

Nestlé Waters UK Limited

Raw Products Limited

Vitafle France SARL

Vitaflo (International) Limited

Vitaflo Limited

Wyeth Nutritionals Ireland Limited

Wynutri Limited

Registered office

1 City Place, Gatwick,
West Sussex, RH6 0PA
3030 Lake Drive, Citywest,
Dublin 24, Ireland

1 City Place, Gatwick,
West Sussex, RH6 0PA

1 City Place, Gatwick,
West Sussex, RH6 0PA

1 City Place, Gatwick,
West Sussex, RH6 O0PA

1 City Place, Gatwick,
West Sussex, RH6 O0PA

1 City Place, Gatwick,
West Sussex, RH6 OPA
38 Rue de Berri, 75008
Paris, France

Suite 1.11, South
Harrington Building, 182
Sefton Street, Brunswick
Business Park, Liverpool,
L3 4BQ

Class of
shares

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

6 Moss Street, Paisley, PA1 Ordinary

1BL

Tomdeely North, Askeaton,

County Limerick,
Republic of Ireland

3030 Lake Drive, Citywest
Business Campus, Dublin
24, Republic of Ireland

Ordinary

Ordinary

Holding
100%

100%
160%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Subsidiary undertakings and participating interests (continued)

Participating interests

The Company has a 50% participating interest in Cereal Partners UK. The other 50% is owned by General Mills
Canada Holding Three Corporation. A share of any taxation charge or credit relating to the results of the investment
is borme by the Company. The value of the investment at the balance sheet date was £17,298,000 (2017 -

£27,747,000).

Stocks

Raw materials and consumables
Work in progress {goods to be sold)
Finished goods and goods for resale

Debtors

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by group undertakings

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associated undertakings
Other debtors

Prepayments and accrued income

Financial instruments

2018 2017
£000 £000
34,878 49,429
29,298 38,106
82,478 84,047
146,654 171,582
As restated

2018 2017
£000 £000
235,417 223,705
275,539 509,813
56,723 56,574
25,702 8,182
8,433 8,312
3,755 13,589
605,569 820,175

Amounts owed by group undertakings include £192,301,000 (2017 - £438,152,000) representing cash transferred to
subsidiary undertakings as part of the group cash pooling arrangement which can be recovered on request.

Amounts owed to joint ventures and associated undertakings includes a loan of £53,000,000 (2017 - £53,000,000)

to Cereal partners UK.
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Creditors; Amounts falling due within one year

Bank overdrafts

Trade creditors

Amounts owed to group undertakings

Amounts owed to associates

Corporation tax

Obligations under lease and hire purchase contracts
Other creditors

Accruals and deferred income

Financial instruments

As restated

2018 2017
£000 £000
136 1,210
170,684 192,844
464,687 933,609
14,909 12,042

- 7,942
5,820 8,203
12,855 12,478
98,610 83,727
648 20,573
768,349 1,272,628

Amounts owed to group undertakings includes unsecured loans £200,000,000 (2017 - £805,400,000), cash pooling
arrangements £73,761,000 (2017 - £40,278,000) and current trading balances £190,926,000 (2017 - £87,931,000).

Amounts owed to group undertakings under group cash pooling arrangement and current account balances must be

repaid on request.

Amounts owed to group undertakings comprise the following unsecured loan:

Settlement date Interest rate

17 September 2019 3 month LIBOR plus 99 basis points

£000

200,000

200,000
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Creditors; Amounts falling due after more than one year

Net obligations under leases

Amounts owed to group undertakings

Creditors falling due after more than one year {continued)

Amounts owed to group undertakings comprise the following unsecured loans:

Settlement date Interest rate

November 2020 3 month LIBOR plus 182 basis points
February 2021 6 month LIBOR plus 5 basis points
February 2021 3 month LIBOR plus 5 basis points

As restated

2018 2017
£000 £000
44,090 49,198
1,280,837 804,437
1,324,927 853,635

£000

804,437

425,000

51,400

1,280,837
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Deferred taxation

At beginning of year
Charged to the Profit and Loss Account
Utilised in year

At end of year

The provision for deferred taxation is made up as follows:

2018
£000

(21,287)
(16,742)
12,216

(25,813)

As restated

2018 2017
£000 £000
Accelerated capital allowances (29,995) (27,555)
Movement in general provisions 3,211 3,752
Capitalised leased assets 1,397 -
Other timing differences (426) 2,516
(25,813) (21,287)

The Company has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £3,943,000 (2017 - £3,127,000} as at 31 December 2018,
This amount has not been recognised as the directors are of the opinion that recoverability of this deferred tax asset

15 uncertain.
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Provisions

Post

retirement  Factory/division Business
benefits reorganisation  restructuring Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2018 2,872 10,429 1,255 14,556
Charged to profit or loss 71 4,600 1,93¢ 6,601
Charged to other comprehensive income (168) - - (168)
Released to profit or loss - (2,000) - {2,000)
Utilised in year (184) (5,829) (599) (6,612)
At 31 December 2018 2,591 7,200 2,586 12,377

Post retirement benefits

The post retirement benefits provision relates to post retirement medical benefits of a closed scheme (see note 28).

Factory/division restructuring

At 31 December 2017 there was a provision of £10,429,000 remaining in respect of factory restructuring. During
the year £5,628,000 of this provision was utilised and £2,000,000 released to the Profit and Loss Account. An
additional provision of £4,600,000 was charged to the Profit and Loss Account during the year, of which £201,000

was utilised. Tota! provisions of £7,200,000 were outstanding at 31 December 20138,

Business restructuring

Provisions in respect of business restructuring totalled £1,255,000 at 31 December 2017. During 2018 additional
provisions of £1,930,000 were charged 1o the Profit and Loss Account and £599,000 were utilised, resulting in

provisions outstanding at 31 December 2018 of £2,586,000.

Share capital

2018
£000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
260,000,000 (2017 - 260,000,000) Ordinary shares of £0.50 cach 136,000

2017
£000

130,000
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Reserves
Share premium account

The balance of the share premium account repesents the premium paid in excess of the nominal value of the issued
share capital of the Company.

Other reserves
The hedging reserve balance reflects the recognition of the results on effective hedge transactions.
Profit & loss account

This relates to the undistributed profits of the Company.

Equity compensation plan

Certain employees are ¢ligible to receive long-term incentives in the form of equity compensation plans. Each unit
granted gives the right to one Nestlé S.A. share.

Equity compensation plans are settled either by remittance of Nestlé S.A. shares (accounted for as equity-settled
share-based payment transactions) or by the payment of an equivalent amount in cash {accounted for as cash-settled
share-based payment transactions). As the shares are in Nestlé S.A. and not Nestlé UK Ltd., all charges for equity
compensation plans are accrued in ‘creditors due within one year' and the share value is subsequently invoiced to
Nestlé UK Ltd. by Nestlé S A,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Equity compensation plan (continued)

Restricted Stock Unit Plan (RSUF)

Members of senior management are awarded Restricted Stock Units (RSU) that entitle participants to receive freely
disposable Nestlé S.A. shares (accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions) or an equivalent
amount in cash (accounted for as cash-settled share-based payment transactions) at the end of a three year restriction

period subject to service conditions. There were no RSU granted in 2017.

2018
Number
Number of RSU in units
Qutstanding at the beginning of the year -
Granted during the year 42,535
Settled and transfers to and from other group companies (3.347)
Forfeited (631)

2017
Number

Outstanding at the end of the year 38,557

The fair value of equity-settled RSU is determined on the basis of the market price of Nestlé S.A. shares at grant
date, discounted at a risk-free interest rate and adjusted for the dividends that participants are not entitled to receive
during the restricted period of three years. The weighted average fair value of the equity-settled RSU granted in

2018 is CHF 59.96 (2017 - No RSU granted).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Equity compensation plan {continued)

Performance Share Unit Plan (PSUP)

As from 2014, members of senior management are awarded Performance Share Units (PSU) that entitle participants
to receive freely disposable Nestlé S.A. shares (accounted for as equity-settled share based payment transactions) or
an equivalent amount of cash (accounted for as cash-settled share based payment transactions} at the end of a three
year restriction period.

Upon vesting, the number of shares to be delivered will range from 0% to 200% of the initial grant and be
determined by the degree by which the performance measures of the PSUP have been met. These measures are the
relative Total Shareholder Return of the Nestlé S.A. share in relation to the STOXX Global 1800 Food and
Beverage Net Return Index; and the growth of the underlying earnings per share in constant currencies. Each of the
two measures has equal weighting in determining the vesting level of the initial PSU award.

2018 2017
Number Number

Number of PSU in units
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 138,832 136,849
Granted during the year 4,008 51,735
Forfeited during the year (9.843) {11,958)
Settled and transfers to and from other group companies (42,203) (37,794}
Qutstanding at the end of the year 90,794 138,832

The fair value of the equity-settled PSU is determined using a valuation model which reflects the probability of
over-achievement or under-achievement on the Total Shareholder Return measure, which is a market condition, and
based on five-year historical data. The other inputs incorporated into the valuation model comprise the market price
of Nestlé S.A, shares at the grant date, discounted at a risk-free interest rate and adjusted for the dividends that
participants are not entitled to receive during the restricted period of three years. The weighted average fair value of
the equity-settled PSU granted in 2018 is CHF 59.96 (2017 - CHF 55.96).

Contingent liabilities

At 31 December 2018 the Company had provided indemnities given in the normal course of business totalling
£39,427,000 (2017 - £7,980,000).

The Company participates in a joint venture {see note 16). Under the terms of the partnership agreement the
Company acts as guarantor for its share of the partnership pension scheme deficit. At 31 December 2018 the
Company's share of the pension deficit amounted to £242,000 (2017 - £14,363,000).

Capital commitments

At 31 December the Company had capital commitments as follows:

2018 2017
£000 £000
Contracted for but not provided in these financial statements 6,988 3,097

6,988 3,097
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2918

Pension commitments

The total pensicns liability of £12,495,000 recorded on the Statement of Financial Position is made up of a funded
deficit of £2,879.000 detailed in note 28(a} and an unfunded deficit of £9,616,000 detailed in note 29(a).

(a} Nestlé UK Pension Fund

Nestlé UK Ltd. participates in the Nestlé UK Pension Fund ("the Fund") which includes a defined benefit and a
defined contribution section. The current defined benefit section provides career average benefits to employees on
retirement based on their salary and the length of their service.

The Fund is a registered Pension scheme and is subject to the statutory scheme-specific funding requirements
outlined in UK legislation, including the payment of levies to the Pension Protection Fund. It is established under
trust and the responsibility for its governance lies with the trustees who also agree the funding arrangements with the
Company.

The last triennial funding valuation of the fund was carried out at 31 December 2015 and deficit recovery
contributions for the period 2017 to 2022 were confirmed in an agreement between the Company and the Trustees
signed initially on 21 February 2017, and subsequently updated and signed on 11 December 2013,

An updated valuation of the entire scheme was prepared at 31 December 2018 by an independent qualified actuary’
for the purpose of IAS 19. At that date the liabilities exceeded the assets of the scheme by £3,554,000 (2017 -
£334,233,000}.

The Company made contributions totalling £139,551,000 to the defined benefit section of the fund during 2018
(2017 - £103,785,000).

2018 2017

£000 £000
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows
Present value of funded obligations (4,798,027) (5,224,313)
Fair value of scheme assets 4,794,473 4,890,080
Gross deficit (3,554) (334,233)
Related deferred tax asset 675 60,750
Net deficit (2,879) (273,483)
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2018 2017

£000 £000
Composition of plan assets
Equity investments 1,656,459 1,385,203
Debt instruments 3,296,868 2,909,107
Cash and cash equivalents (1,307,301) (465,216)
Real estate 245,513 258,552
Hedge funds 759,389 649,561
Other 143,545 152,873

4,794,473 4,890,080
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Pension commitments (continued)

Net deficit in the scheme

At | January

Current service cost

Past service cost

Net interest cost

Pension curtailments

Actuarial gains/(losses)

Deferred tax on actuarial movement
Contributions - special
Contributions - normal

Transfer of liability to unfunded scheme
Administrative expenses

At 31 December

Amounts recognised in the Profit and Loss Account to arrive at operating profit

Current service cost
Past service cost
Pension curtailments
Administrative expenses

Defined benefit scheme

Defined contribution scheme
Unfunded defined benefit scheme

Recovery from affiliate companies for the defined benefit scheme

Recognised in operating profit

Amounts recognised in the Profit and Loss Account in Interest payable and similar charges

Net interest on defined benefit obligations

2018 2017
£000 £000
(273,483) (568,665)
(37,379) (46,730)
(10,000) -
(5,740) (15,620)
5,339 2,895
247,038 290,760
(60,075) (62.875)
86,000 85,806
53,551 46,591
176 1,155
(8,300) (6,800)
(2,879) (273,483)
2018 2017
£000 £000
(37,379) (46,730)
(10,000) .
5,339 2,895
(8,300) (6,800)
(50,340) (50,635)
(10,730) (6,470)
(400) (870)
26,630 26,167
(34,840) (31,808)
2018 2017
£000 £000
(5,740) (15,620)
(5,740) (15,620)
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Pension commitments (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value of plan liabilities

2018 2017

£000 £000
At 1 January (5,224,313)  (5,304,013)
Current service cost (37,779) (47,768)
Past service cost (10,000) -
Pension curtailments 5,339 2,895
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation (133,473) (140,883)
Changes in demographic assumptions 115,510 16,069
Changes in financial assumptions 284,697 82,106
Effect of experience adjustments 864 {25,337
Transfer of liability to unfunded scheme 170 1,155
Benefits paid 200,958 191,463
At 31 December (4,798,027)  (5,224.313)
Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

2018 2017

£000 £000
At 1 January 4,890,080 4,611,723
Interest on plan assets 127,733 125,263
Contributions by employer 139,551 132,397
Contributions by scheme participants 400 1,038
Administrative expenses (8,300) (6,800)
Remeasurements - return on scheme assets (154,033) 217,922
Benefits paid (200,958) (191,463)
At 31 December 4,794,473 4,890,080

The cumulative amount of actuarial losses recognised in the Statement of Cotnprehensive Income was
£1,595,508,000 (2017 - £1,842,546,000). The Company expects to pay £139,359,000 to its defined benefit plans
during 2019.
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Pension commitments (continued)

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date were as follows:

Discount rate (Defined benefit obligation)
Discount rate (Service cost)

Price inflation

Future increases in salaries

Future increases in pensions

Life expectancy of a male member aged 65
Life expectancy of a female member aged 65

2018

2.95%
3.05%
3.20%
2.20%
3.05%
21.8 years
23.1 years

2017

2.60%
2.60%
3.20%
2.20%
3.05%
21.8 years
23.1 vears

The discount rate assumption was derived using an updated methodology at 31 December 2018 and is based on a

corperate bond curve with a "Single Agency” approach incorporated.

The weighted average duration of the benefit payments reflected in the fair value of the Fund's liabilities is 17 years.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity of the fair value of plan liabilities to a change in the assumptions adopted in the valuation is as follows:

2018

£000

Increase by

0.5%

Discount rate (4,423,480)
Salary increase (4,798,027)
Pension increase (5,075,230)
Member mortality assumption by 1 year (4,636,870

2018
£000
Decrease by
0.5%

(5,224,509)
(4,798,027)
(4,508,780)
(4,959,632)

2017
£000
[ncrease by
0.5%

(4,787,657)
(5,224,313)
(5,546,043)
(5,052,392)

2017
£000
Decrease by
0.5%

(5,724,875)
(5,224313)
(4,889,627)
(5,396,863)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.
In practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
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Penston commitments (continued)

The five year history of the defined benefit obligation and plan assets is as follows:

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
£600 £000 £000 £000 £000

Defined benefit obligation (4,798,027) (5,224,313} (5,304,013) (4,255,083) (4,442.870)
Plan assets 4,794,473 4,890,080 4,611,723 3,838,532 3,806,920
Scheme deficit (3,554) (334,233)  (692,290) (416,551) {635,950)
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (864) 25,337 (57,251) (96,949) (17,404)
Experience adjustments on plan assets {154,033} 217,922 721,134 (65,647} 303,069
(b) Other personnel obligations
The Company has the following liability in respect of the unfunded pension fund:

2018 2017

£000 £000
Pension liability (11,872) (10,929)
Deferred tax (note 21) 2,256 2,077
Net deficit (9,616) (8,852)
The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2018 2617
Discount rate (Defined benefit obligation) 2.95% 2.60%
Discount rate (Service cost) 3.05% 2.60%
Price inflation 3.20% 3.20%
Fulure increases in salaries 2.20% 2.20%
Future increases in pensions 3.05% 3.05%
Life expectancy of a male aged 65 21.8 years 21.8 years
The amounts recognised in the Profit and Loss Account within eperating profit are as follows:

2018 2017

£000 £000
Current service cost (400) (883)
Past service cost - -
Gains/losses on settlements - 13

(400) (370)
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Pension commitments {continued)

The amounts recognised in interest payable and similar charges are as follows:

2018 2017
£000 £000
Interest on obligations (305) (308)
(305) (308)

(¢) Post-retirement benefits

The Company provides certain post-retirement benefits, mainly healthcare to 118 (2017 - 121) pensioned former
employees. The plan is unfunded and the liability in respect of these benefits is assessed by a qualified independent

actuary on a bi-annual basis.

The gross liability reported is £2,591,000 (2017 - £2,872,000) and is disclosed within "Provisions for liabilities and

charges" in the Balance Sheet (see note 22}.

The following table sets out the key assumptions used for the scheme:

2018 2017

Core price inflation 3.20% 3.20%

Discount rate 2.90% 2.55%

Future increases in salaries 2.20% 2.20%

Future increases in pensions 3.05% 3.05%

Medical expense inflation 5.20% 5.20%

Life expectancy of a male aged 65 21.8 years 21.8 years
The amounts recognised in interest payable and similar charges are as follows:

2018 2017

£000 £000

Interest on obligations )] (70)

(71) {70)

Assumed medical expense inflation has an effect on the amounts reported for the Post-retirement medical Scheme.
A 50 basis point change in assumed medical expense inflation would have the following effect on the Company's

Post-retirement Medical Scheme:
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Pension commitments (continued)

2018 2018 2017 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Increase by Decrease by Increase by  Decrease by

0.5% 0.5% 0.3% 0.5%

Gross liability at year-end (2,723) (2,467) (3,035) (2,718)

{d) Long term sickness and disabhility scheme

The Company operates a L.ong Term Sickness and Disability Scheme. The reserve in respect of any liabilities is

assessed by a qualified independent actuary and is included in creditors: amounts falling due within one year (note
19)

The following table sets out the key assumptions used for the scheme.

2018 2017
Core price inflation 3.20% 3.20%
Discount rate 2.90% 2.55%
Benefit increases 2.70% 2.70%
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Restatement of 2017 comparatives and the first application of IFRS 16

As described in note 1 Accounting policies, comparative figures as at 31 December 2017 have been restated

following the application of IFRS 16 as follows:

Asset/Liability
Balance Sheet

Fixed assets - net book value
Intangible asscts and goodwill
Fixed asset investments
Current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Creditors falling due after more than one year
Provision for liabilities

Net pension liability

Total liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves brought forward
Dividends paid

Other comprehensive income
Current year retained profit

As
previously
stated
£000

556,422
1,147,351
1,605,314

1,050,536
3,759,623

(1,269,434}
(804,437)
(36,242)

(280,329)
(2,390,442)

1,369,181

1,223,525
(265,000)
247,670

162,986
1,369,181

IFRS 16
Adjustment
£000

48,798
0
0

— (1400
47,398

(3,194)
(49.198)
399

0

(51,993)

CE D)

(5,079)
0

]

484

(4.595)

2017
Restated
£000

605,220
1,147,351
1,005,314

1,049,136
3,807,021

(1,272,628
(853,635)
(35,843}

(280,329)
(2,442,435)

1,364,586

1,218,446
(265,000)
247,670
163,470

1,364,586

Page 46



29,

NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Restatement of 2016 comparatives and the first application of IFRS 16

As decscribed in Note 1 Accounting policies, comparative figures as at 31 December 2016 have been restated

following the application of IFRS 16 as follows:

Asset/Liability

Balance Sheet

Fixed assets - net book value
Intangible assets and goodwill
Fixed asset investments
Current assets

Total assets

Current labilities

Creditors falling due after more than one year
Provision for liabilities

Net pension lability

Total liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves brought forward
Other comprehensive income
Current year retained profit

As
previously
stated
£000

582,448
1,147,487
1,536,815

873,761
4,140,511

(1,504,629)
(807,167)
(28,126)

{577,064)
(2,916,986)

1,223,525

1,242,657
(272,777

253,645
1,223,525

IFRS 16
Adjustment
£000

55,597
0
0
0

55,597

(8,136)
(52,540)

(60,676}

(5,079}

(5,079)

(5.079)

2016
Restated
£000

638,045
1,147,487
1,536,815

873,761
4,196,108

(1,512,765)
(859,707)
(28,126)
(577,064)

{2,977,662)

1,218,446

1,237,578
(272,777
253,645

1,218,446
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Related party transactions

The Company pays for certain costs on behalf of the Nestlé UK Pension Fund ("NUKPF"), Cereal Partners Pension
Fund and Nestlé Europe Pension Fund. These pension funds reimburse the Company with the cost of these
expenses. For the year ended 31 December 2018 the total expenses reimbursed amounted to £12,167,274 (2017 -

£9,457,378). Of this figure £2,574,280 (2017 - £2,192,540) relates to salaries and other benefits of the staff and
£9,592,994 (2017 - £7,264,838) to other administrative costs.

Post balance sheet events

There have been no significant events affecting the Company since the year end that require disclosure in these
financial statements.

Controlling party

Nestlé Holdings (U.K.) PLC, a company registered in England and Wales, is the Company's immediate parent
company and the holding company for some other Nestlé S.A. group companies based in the United Kingdom.
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CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

INTRODUCTION

The members present the Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The performance achieved during the year is set out in the Profit and Loss account on page 7.

Tumover decreased year on year by 2.6% in line with the RTE Cereal Market where continued growth of
Discounters and Private Label have ted to market valug decline.

The company undertook a restructuring at head office and factories, this resulted in a charge of £5,889,000
(2017 £4,803,000). An impairment review of fixed assets used to produce Private Label products also took
place; the ouicome of this was an assef impairment charge of £8,003,000 (2017 : nil).

The results of the parinership show a pre-tax profit of £73,000 (2017 : £11,082,000).
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The management of the business of the partnership and the execution of its strategy are subject to a number of
risks and uncertainties, including a difficuit economic environment, a strong competitive environment, currency
fluctuations, further frade consolidation, product innovation, employee retention and volatility in input costs.

The members of the partnership are aware of these risks and strategic decisions are made to manage these
risks appropriately. These wilt include monitoring of the performance of key brands, review of costs and the credit
exposure to customers. The decision-making process and the assessment of business performance is supporied
by the experience of the management team, regular sales volume and value data and monthly management
accounts, split by business channe!,

The partnership has an exposure to the risk of currency fluctuations. The risk is managed by the reguiar
monitoring of fluctuations in key currencies and entering into forward currency contracts to hedge future
requirements as appropriate.

The partnership has evaluated the potential impacts of Brexit and has taken steps to mitigate these where
appropriate.

The group internal audit department monitors the operation risks of alt parts of the business on a rotational/sample
basis and will recommend improvements to business processes and controls to assist in the mitigation of
identified business risks.

The partnership is in a net current liability position and is reliant on its members, Nestlé UK Limited and General
Mitis Canada Holding Three Corporation for continued support - refer to note 1.2 for further details.

This report was approved by the members on 22 July 2019 and signed on its behalf.

W Ky~ . G o

David McDaniel Kathy K Garrison
Director of Nestlé UK Limited President of Generat Mills Canada Holding Three
Corporation
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CEREAL PARTNERS UK.

MEMBERS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

The members present their report and ihe financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

STATEMENT OF MEMBERS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE MEMBERS' REPORT AND
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The members are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Members’ Report and the partnership
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

The Partnerships (Accounts) Regutations 2008 require the members to prepare partnership financiai
statements for each financial year in accordance with Part 15 and Chapter 1 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Under that law the members have elected to prepare the partnership financial statements in accordance
with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS
102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland.

Under company law the members must not approve the financial statements unless they are satistied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the partnership and of the profit or loss of the partnarship for
that period. In preparing the partnership financial statements, the members are required to:
» sefect suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
+ make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
« state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
« assess the qualifying partnership’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern; and
+ use the going concemn basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the gualifying
partnership or to cease operations, of have na realistic aiternative but to do so.

The members are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have yeneral
responstbility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to saleguard the assets of the partnership
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principat activity of Cereal Partners UK (the partnership) is the manufacture and sale of breakfast cereals in
the UK and Ireland.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

The profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to £73,000 (2017 - £11,082,060).

The members recommend a distribution of £73,000 {o be paid in 2019 (2018 - £20,969,000).
MEMBERS

The members who served during the year were:

Nestlé UK Limited
General Mills Canada Holding Three Corporation

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
The partnership will seek to minimise adverse impacts on the environment from its activittes, whilst continuing to

address health, safety and econonic issues. The partnership has complied with aft applicable legislation and
regulations.
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CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

MEMBERS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The external environment is expected to remain competitive and challenging in 2019.
EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT

The partnership fully supports the rights of individuals to seek, obtain and hold employment without discrimination
on the grounds of race, colour, religion, origin, sex, sexual orientation, disability or marital status. The partnership
seeks to provide a working environment free of any harassment or intimidation. Policies relating to training, career
development and succession are applied equally to disabled and able-bodied employees. Employees who
become disabled are retained, where possible, through redepicyment and retraining, to enable them to perform
work identified as appropriate to their aptitudes and abilities.

Occupational Health and Safety continues to receive the same high profile in 2019 with a commitment across all
areas of the business to sustain the continual improvement in performance. Proactive preventative Occupationat
Heaith and Safety systems auditing continues and demonstrates increasing performance and the development
of plans to continue with a continuat increase in performance.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR

Each of the persons who are members at the time when this Members' report is approved has confirmed that:

. so far as that member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the partnership's Auditor is
unaware, and
. that member has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a member in order to be aware of

any relevant audit information and fo establish that the partnership’s Auditor is aware of that information.
AUDITOR

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Gompanies Act 2008, the auditor will be deemed to have been reappointed and
KPMG LLP will therefore continue in office.

This report was approved by the board on 22 July 2019 and signed on its behalf.

David McDaniel Kathy K Garrison
Director of Nestié UK Limited President of General Mills Canada Holding Three
1 City Place Corporation
Gatwick 1300-1969 Upper Water Street
RH6 OPA Purdy's Wharf
United Kingdom Tower i
Halifax
Nova Scotia
B34 3R7
Canada
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

OPINION

\We have audited the financial statements of Cereat Partners UK (“the qualifying parinership*) for the yaar
ended 31 December 2018 which comprise the Profit and Loss Account, Statement of Comprehensive Income,
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, inciuding the
accounting policies in note 1.

In our opinion the financial statements:

« give a true and fair view of the state of the qualifying partnership's affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of
its profit for the year then ended;

= have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland; and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applied to
qualifying partnerships by The Partnerships (Accounts) Reguiations 2008.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with international Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)") and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under,
and are independent of the qualifying partnership in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the
FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate
basis for our opinion.

The impact of uncertainties due to the UK exiting the European Union on our audit

Uncertainties related to the effects of Brexit are relevant fo understanding our audit of the financial statements.
All audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors and related disclosures
and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements. All of these
depend on assessments of the future economic envirorment and the qualifying partnership's future prospects
and performance.

Brexit is one of the most significant economic events for the UK, and at the date of this report its effects are
subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty of outcomes, with the full range of possible effects unknown. We
applied a standardised firm-wide approach in response to that uncertainty when assessing the qualifying
partnership’s future prospects and performance. However, no audit should be expected to predict the
unknowable factors or all possible future implications for a company and this is particularly the case in relation
to Brexit.

Going concern

The general members have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend
to liquidate the qualifying partnership or o cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the qualifying
partnership’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material
uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at least a
year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

We are required fo report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is
in-appropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of
that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. in our evatuation
of the general partners’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the qualifying partnership’s business
model, including the impact of Brexit, and analysed how those risks might affect the qualifying partnership’s
financial resources or ability to continue aperations over the going concern period. We have nothing to report
in these respects.

However, as we cannot predict alf future evenis or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence
of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the qualifying partnership
will continue in operation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CEREAL PARTNERS U.K. (continued)

Strategic report and general members’ report

The general members are responsible for the strategic report and the general members’ report. Qur opinion on
the financial statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion or, except as
explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the general members’ report and, in doing so, consider
whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

« we have not identified material misstatements in those reports;

= in our opinion the information given in the strategic report and the general members’ report for the financial
year is consistent with the financial statements; and

« inour opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 as applied to qualifying partnerships we are required to report to you if, in our
opinion:
= adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or
+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of members’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

General members’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in the their statement set out on page 2, the general members are responsible for: the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the qualifying partnership’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the qualifying partnership or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org. uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CEREAL PARTNERS U.K. {continued)

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the qualifying parinership’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 18 of the Comipanies Act 2006, as required by regulation 4 of the Partnerships {Accounts) Reguiations
2008. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the qualifying partnership’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the qualifying
partnership and its members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Benjamin Stapleton (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

58 Clarendon Road
Watford
WD17 1DE

Date: 7% ‘3"“13 7\
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CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note
Turnover 2
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Cistribution costs
Administrative costs (including exceptional costs of £13,892,000
(2017 £4,803,000)) 4
Operating profit 3
Interest receivable and similar income 8
Interest payable and similar charges 7

Profit before tax

Profit for the year

All amounts relate to continuing operations.

The notes cn pages 14 to 29 form part of these financial statements.
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2018 2017
£000 £000
251,090 257,755
(102,748}  (103,841)
148,342 153,914
(70,856) (77,869)
(75,075) (62,551)
2,411 13,494
6,259 6,341
(8,597) (8,753)
73 11,082
73 11,082




CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note
Profit for the financial year
Other comprehensive income
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit schemes 19

Other comprehensive (expense)income for the year

Total comprehensive (expense)income for the year

The notes on pages 14 to 29 form part of these financial statements.

Page 8

2018 2017
£000 £000
73 11,082
21,720 3,210
21,720 3210
21,793 14,292




Fixed assets

Tangible assets

Current assets
Stocks
Debtors

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one
year

Net current liabilities

Net assets excluding pension scheme
liability

Defined benefit pension fund liability

Net assets including pension scheme

liability

Capital and reserves
Members’ interests

Reserves

Total members’ interests

CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

2018
Note £000
10 84,712
84,712
11 15,751
12 5,264
13 800
21,815
14 {42,078)
{20,263)
64,449
19 {483}
—...63966
16 141,913
15 (77,947)
— 63,966

2017
£000

92,653

92,653

17,639
4,461

352

22,452

(41,187)

(18,735)
73,918
(28,727)

45,191

123,962

(78,771)

45,191

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on

22 July 2019.

David McDaniel
Director of Nestlé UK Limited

Kathy K Garrison

President of General Mills Canada Holding Three

Corporation

The notes on pages 14 to 29 form part of these financial statements.
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CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Members’ Hedging Retained
capital reserve earnings  Total equity
£000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2018 123,962 189 (78,960) 45,191
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - 73 73
Actuarial gains/(losses) on pension scheme - - 21,720 21,720
QOther comprehensive income for the year - - 21,720 21,720
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 21,793 21,793
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Distributions - - (20,969) (20,969)
Members working capital movement 17,951 B ) 17,951
Total transactions with owners 17,951 - {20,969) (3,018)
At 31 December 2018 141,913 189 _{78,136) 63,966

The notes on pages 14 to 29 form part of these financial statements
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CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

At 1 January 2017

Comptehensive income for the year

Profit for the year

Actuarial gains/(losses) on pension schems

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
Contributions by and distributions to
owners

Distributions

Members working capital movement

Total transactions with owners

At 31 December 2017

The notes on pages 14 to 29 form part of these financial statements

Members’ Hedging Retained
capital reserve earnings Total equity
£000 £000 £000 £000
103,752 (46) {64,797) 38,909
. 235 10,847 11,082
. - 3,210 3,210
- - 3,210 3,210
- 235 14,057 14,292
- - (28,220) {28,220)
20,210 - - 20,210
20,210 - (28,220) (8,010)
123,962 189 (78,960) ___ 45191
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CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the financial year

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of tangible assets

Impairment of tangible assets

Less on disposal of tangible assets

Decrease/(Increase) in stocks

Interest payable

Interest receivable

(Increase}/decrease in debtors

{Increase)/decrease in amounts owed by group undertakings
Increasef(decrease} in creditors

{Decrease)/increase in amounts owed to group undertakings
Increase/(decrease) in net pension liabilities

Members interests working capital movements

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of tangible fixed assets

Interest received and exchange gains

Net cash outflow from investing activities
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2018 2017
Note £000 £000
73 11,082
10,965 11,488
8,003 -
63 17
1,888 (1,943)
8,697 8,753
(6,259) (6,341)
(713) 2,089
(90) 115
1,418 (276)
(527) (80)
(7,114) (6.485)
16 17,951 20,210
34,255 38,629
{11,090) (8,839)
35 55
(11,055) (8,784)




CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2018 2017
£000 £000
Cash flows from financing activities
Distributions (20,969) (28,220)
Interest and similar charges paid {1,783) (1,598)
Net cash used in financing activities {22,752) (29,818)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 448 27
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 352 325
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 800 352
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year comprise:
Cash at bank and in hand 800 352
___800 352
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1.

CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1

1.2

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance
with Financial Reporting Standard 102 the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland (‘FRS102").

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the partnership's
accounting paolicies.

The following principal accounting policies have been applied:
Geing concern

The partnership's business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development
and position, are set out in the Business review section of the Members' report on pages 2 to 3.

Notwithstanding net current liabilities of £20,263,000 at 31 December 2018 the financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis which the members consider appropriate for the
following reasons.

The members have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of at least 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements which indicate that, taking account of reasonably possible
downsides, the company will have sufficient funds, through funding from its members, Nestle UK
Limited and General Mills Canada Holding Three Corporation, to meet its liabilities as they fall due
for that period.

These forecasts are dependent on Nestle UK Limited and General Mills Canada Holding Three
Corporation not seeking repayment of the amounts currently due to the group, which at 31 December
2018 amounted to £140,043,000, and providing additional financial support during that pcriod. Nestle
UK Limited and General Mills Canada Holding Three Corporation has indicated its intention to
continue to make such funds available as are needed by the partnership, and that they do not seek
repayment of the amounts due at the balance sheet date. For the period covered by the forecasts as
with any partnership placing reliance on other group entities for financial support, the members
acknowledge that there can be no certainty that this support will continue although, at the date of
approval of these financial statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not do so.

Consequently, the members are confident that the partnership will have sufficient funds to continue

to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial
statements and therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
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1.3

1.4

1.5

CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
partnership and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured as the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, value added tax and other sales
taxes. The following criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

. the partnership has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the buyer;
. the goods have been despatched;
. the partnership retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually

associated with ownership nor effective control cver the goods sold;

the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

it is probable that the partnership will receive the consideration due under the transaction;
. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Intangible fixed assets and amortisation

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. After recognition, under the cost model, intangible
assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.

The partnership adds to the carrying amount of an item of fixed assets the cost of replacing part of
such an item when that cost is incurred, if the replacement part is expected to provide incremental
future benefits to the partnership. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives range as follows:

Depreciation is provided on the following bases:

Freehold property - 2510 35 years
Plant and machinery - 5to 20 years
Computer equipment - 3to 10 years

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
prospectively if appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting
date.
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1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Leasing and hire purchase

Assets obtained under hire purchase contracts and finance leases are capitalised as tangible fixed
assets. Assets acquired by finance lease are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their
useful lives. Assets acquired by hire purchase are depreciated over their usefui lives. Finance leases
are those where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership are assumed by the
partnership. Obligations under such agreements are included in creditors net of the finance charge
allocated to future periods. The finance element of the rental payment is charged to the Profit and
LLoss account so as to produce a constant periodic rate of charge on the net obligation outstanding in
each period.

Operating leases

Payments (excluding costs for services and insurance} made under operating leases are recognised
in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless the payments
to the lessor are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation; in which case the
payments related to the structured increases are recognised as incurred. Lease incentives received
are recognised in profit and loss over the term of the lease as an integral part of the total iease
expense.

Stocks

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value after making due allowance for obsolete
and slow-moving inventory. Cost includes all direct costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and
variable overheads.

Debtors

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. Loans receivable are
measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are

repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’'s cash management are included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the cash flow statement.
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1.11

1.12

1.13

1.14

CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Hedging

The partnership has entered into currency forward contracts to manage its exposure to fluctuations
in the value of foreign currencies. In addition the partnership utilise the futures market to stabilise the
long term price of major raw materials.

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a
recognised asset or liahility, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain
or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in Other Comprehensive Income.
Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

For cash flow hedges, where the forecast transactions resulted in the recognition of a non-financial
asset or non-financial liability, the hedging gain or loss recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
is included in the initial cost or other carrying amoeunt of the asset or liability. Alternatively when the
hedged item is recognised in profit or loss the hedging gain or loss is reclassified to profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity discontinues
designation of the hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to oceur,
the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the
above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take
place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the income
statement immediately.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
The company's functional and presentational currency is GBP.
Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate.
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction and non-monetary items measured at fair value are measured using the exchange
rate when fair value was determined.

Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the Profit and Loss account.

During its normal course of business the partnership enters into a number of forward exchange
contracts. These transactions are initially recorded at the rate stated in the relevant foreign exchange
contract. At the balance sheet date any gains or losses arising on retranslation are recognised in the
Profit and Loss account. The corresponding debter or creditor is included in other debtors or creditors
respectively,

Creditors

Creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers.

Creditors are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Finance costs

Finance costs are charged to the Profit and loss account over the term of the debt using the effective
interest method so that the amount charged is at a constant rate on the carrying amount.
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1.15

1.17

1.19

1.20

CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Pensions

The partnership operates a closed defined benefit pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the partnership in an independently administered fund.

Pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit method and discounted at the current
rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liability.

The scheme surplus, to the extent that it is recoverable, or deficit is recognised in full. The movement
in the scheme surplus/deficit is split between operating charges, finance items and, in the statement
of comprehensive income, actuarial gains and losses.

Further disclosure relating to the partnership defined benefit pension scheme is given in note 19 to
these financial statements.

The partnership also participates in the Nestlé UK Pension Fund which includes a defined benefit and
a defined contribution scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
partnership.

The partnership is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the Nestlé
scheme on a consistent and reascnable basis. It therefore accounts for the scheme as if it were a
defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the Profit and Loss account
represents the contributicns paid to the scheme in respect of the accounting period.

For additional information regarding the Nestlé UK Pension Fund please refer to note 19 to these
financial statements.

Taxation

No account is taken of either current taxation on profits or deferred taxation arising on timing
differences within these financial statements. All taxation is dealt with as appropriate in the financial
statements of the members.

Distributions

Distributions unpaid at the balance sheet date are only reccgnised as a liability at that date to the
extent that they are appropriately authorised and are no longer at the discretion of the partnership.
Unpaid distributions that do not meet these criteria are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the Profit and Loss account using the effective interest method.
Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in the Profit and Loss account in the year in which they are
incurred.

Provisions for Liabilities

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the partnership a legal or constructive
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefit, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are charged as an expense to the Profit and Loss account in the year that the partnership
becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date
of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet.
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CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
ANALYSIS OF TURNOVER

Analysis of turnover by country of destinaticn:

2018 2017
£000 £000
United Kingdom 231,134 237,865
Rest of Europe 19,281 18,905
Rest of the world 675 985
251,090 257,755
OPERATING PROFIT
The operating profit is stated after charging:
2018 2017
£000 £000
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 10,965 11,488
Auditor’'s remuneration — statutory audit 92 a0
Loss on sale of fixed assets 63 17
During the year, no members received any emoluments (2017 - £NIL).
EXCEPTIONAL COSTS
2018 2017
£000 £000
Restructuring Costs 5,889 4,803
Asset Impairment 8,003 -

Restructuring costs are severance payments in respect of head office and factory employees who have
left the business following a cost review.

Asset impairment relates to the write down of the value of factory assets used to produce certain Private
Label products where the future cash flows from those products are insufficient to offset the depreciation
of those assets.

EMPLOYEES
Staff costs were as follows:
2018 2017
£000 £000
Wages and salary costs 32,038 28,113
Social security costs 3,064 2,883
1
Pension costs 4,933 5,259

40,035 36,255
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CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20138

EMPLOYEES (continued}

Total staff costs disclosed above include amounts paid to key management personnel for
normal compensation of £1,860,000 (2017: £1,856,000) , and compensation for loss of office of
£2,455,000 (2017: nil).

The average monthly number of employees, including the members, during the year was as follows:

2018 2017

No. No.

Production 487 528
Sales and administration 114 136
601 664

MEMBERS' REMUNERATION

No directors of the members received any emoluments in respect of their management of the partnership.

INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

2018 2017

£000 £000
Pension guarantee levy 286 232
Other financial expenses payable to joint venture partners 134 3
Interest payable to joint venture partners 1,216 1,277
Interest payable on pension scheme liabilities 6,814 7,155
Unrealised exchange differences and revaluation 147 86

8,597 8753
INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

2018 2017

£000 £000
Interest on pension fund assets 6,224 6,286
Exchange gain on revaluation 34 16
Interest on bank offset facility 1 39

6,259 6,341
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10.

CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018

Depreciation
At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018

Net Book Value At 31 December 2018

Net Book Value At 31 Decemnber 2017

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2018
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2018
Depreciation

At 1 January 2018
Charge for the period
Impairment Charge

Disposals

At 31 December 2018

Net Book Value At 31 December 2018

Net Book Value at 31 December 2017

Systems

Development Total

£000 £000

8,523 8,523

8,523 8,523

Freehold Plant and

property machinery Total
£000 £000 £000
49,788 209,273 259,061
703 10,387 11,090
{18) {672) (690}
50,473 218,988 269,461
22,389 144,019 166,408
2,378 8,587 10,965
- 8,003 8,003
(14) (613) (627)
24,753 159,996 184,749
25,720 58,992 84,712
27,399 65,254 92,653
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11.

12.

13.

14.

CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

STOCKS

Raw materials and consumables

Finished goods and goods for resale

Stock written off during year

DEBTORS

Amounts owed by group undertakings

Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Financial instruments

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and in hand

CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Other creditars

Financial Instruments
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2018 2017
£000 £000
3,164 3,593
12,587 14,046
—— 15761 17839
992 1,195
2018 2017
£000 £000
329 239
3,113 2,988
1,323 1,153
499 81
5264 __4.461
2018 2017
£000 £000
800 352
800 352
2018 2017
£000 £000
37,792 35,752
2,642 3,169
1,365 1,994
279 272

— 42078 _ _ 41,187



CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

15. RESERVES

Members’ Other Reserves Total Reserves
Other Capital

£000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2018 20,869 (99,740) (78,771)
Profit for the year 73 - 73
Actuarial gain on defined - 21,720 21,720

henefit pension scheme
Distributions {20,969) - (20,969)
At 31 December 2018 73 (78,020} — (77,947)

16. RECONCILIATION OF MEMBERS’ INTERESTS

Members’ Other Members’ Members’ Total
Other Reserves Loan Working Members’
Capital Accounts Capital Interest
Balances
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2018 20,969 (99,740) 140,000 (16,038) 45191
Profit for the year 73 - - - 73
Actuarial gain on
defined benefit pension - 21,720 - - 21,720
scheme
Distributions (20,969) - - - (20,969)
Working capital - - - 17,951 17,951
movements
At 31 December 2018 73 _(78,020) 140,000 1,913 _63,966
Members’ loans and other debts comprise: 2018 2017
£000 £000
Amounts due from members and members’ group 16,214 20,054
companies
Amounts due to members and members’ group (158,127) {144,016)
companies
(141,913) (123.962)

Amounts due to members and members’ group companies include £13,626,000 (2017: nil} representing
cash transferred under the group cash pooling arrangement that is repayable on request.

Amounts due from members and members’ group companies include nil, (2017: £6,470,000) representing
cash transferred under the group cash pooling arrangement that is repayable on request.
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17.

18.

19.

CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

DISTRIBUTIONS

Distributions to members

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2018 the partnership had capital commitments as follows:

Contracted for but not provided in these financial statements

PENSION COMMITMENTS

2018
£000

20,969

2018
£000

134

2017
£000

28,220

2017
£000

217

The partnership operates a closed defined benefit pension scheme, the Cereal Partners UK Pension

Fund (the Fund). At 31 December 2018 the partnership reported a liability of £483,000 (2017 -

£28,727,000) in respect of this fund. The liability has decreased as a result of improved investment
retums, de-risking and a continued deficit funding programme. A full actuarial valuation of the fund was
carried out as at 31 December 2017. The resuits of this valuation have been used and updated for the
purpeose of FRS 102 accounting for the period to 31 December 2018 by a qualified independent actuary
to take account of the requirements of FRS 102 in order to assess the liabilities of the company at the
balance sheet date. Fund assets are stated at their market value at the balance sheet date. As required
by FRS 102 the valuation uses the projected unit method, under which the current service cost will tend
to increase as a percentage of pensionable payroll as members of the Fund approach retirement.

The amount recognised in the balance sheet is as follows:

Present value of Defined Benefit Obligations
Fair value of Fund assets

Fund deficit

The Fund assets comprise:

UK equities

Overseas equities

Debt instruments
Diversified growth fund
Real estate

Cash and cash equivalents
Cthers

Total Fund assets
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2018
£000

(255,358)
254,875

—-{483)

2018
£000

23,550
56,310
147,830
1,896
13,493
10,751
1,045

254,875

2017
£000

(286,306)
257,579

(28,727)

2017
£000

30,085
75,095
90,427
32,944
10,436
17,212

1,380

227,979




CEREAL PARTNERS U.K.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Movement of Fund deficit

2018 2017
'£000 £000
Fund deficit at 1 January {28,727) (37,554)
Current service cost (3,270) (3,858)
Net interest cost {590) (869)
Actuarial gains/{losses) 21,720 3,210
Contributions paid - normal 1,991 2,167
Contributions paid — deficit funding 8,803 8,456
Other administrative costs (338) (279)
Past service cost (82) -
Other 10 -
Fund deficit at 31 December _(483) (28,727)
Changes in the present value of Defined Benefit Obligations are as follows;
2018 2017
£000 £000
Present value of Defined Benefit Obligations at 1 January (286,306) (276,941)
Current service cost (3,270) (3,858)
Contributions from Fund members (164) {190)
Interest on Fund liabilities (6,814) (7,155)
Changes in demographic assumptions 6,263 1,500
Changes in financial assumptions 24,285 (6,100)
Effect of experience adjustments 2,358 (987)
Benefits paid 8,372 7,425
Past service cost (82) -
Present wvalue of Defined Benefit Obligation at 31 {255,358} (286,306)
December
Changes in fair value of Fund assets are as follows:
2018 2017
£000 £000
Fair value of Fund assets at 1 January 257,679 239,387
Interest on Fund assets 6,224 6,286
Actuarial (loss)/gain on Fund assets (11,176) 8,797
Employer contributions - normal 1,991 2,167
Employer contributions — deficit funding 8,803 8,456
Fund member contributions 164 190
Other administrative costs (338) (279)
Benefits paid (8,372) {7,425)
Fair value of Fund assets at 31 December 254,875 257,578

The cumulative amount of actuarial losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income was
£78,020,000 (2017: £99,740,000)

The company expects to contribute £11,800,000 to the Fund in 2019.
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Principal actuarial assumptions expressed as a weighted average and expected returns.

2018 2017
Discount rate 2.95% 2.40%
Future salary increases 1.95% 1.90%
Future pension increases 3.10% 3.00%
Price inflation 3.20% 3.10%
Life expectancy of a current male pensioner aged 65 21.8years 223 years
Life expectancy of a current female pensioner aged 65 23.8 years 242 years
Life expectancy of a future male retiree upon reaching 65 23.2years 237 years
Life expectancy of a future femaie retiree upon reaching 65 253 years 257 years
Expected return on Fund assets 5.85% 6.60%

The fellowing amounts have been recognised within operating costs for the years to 31 December 2018
and 2017,

2018 2017
£000 £000
Current service cost 3,270 3,858
Past service cost 82 -
Other administrative costs 338 279
Total expense in operating cost 2,690 4137

The following amounts have been recognised within financing costs for the years to 31 December 2018
and 2017,

2018 2017
£000 £000
Interest on fund liabilities 6,814 7,155
Total expense in financing costs £.814 7,155

The following amounts have been recognised within financing income for the years toc 31 December 2018
and 2017.

£000 £000
interest receivable on Fund assets 6,224 6,286
Total interest in financing income 6,224 6286

Sensitivity Analysis

The calculation of the Defined Benefit Obligation (DBQ) is sensitive to assumptions set out above. The
following table summarises the impact of a change in these assumptions of half of one percent (0.5%).

Increase by Decrease by

0.50% 0.50%

DBO DBO

£000 £000

Discount rate 234,057 279,668
Salary increases 257,426 251,364
Pension increases 263,973 244670
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Defined Benefit Obligation
Fund assets

Fund deficit

Historical Fund Deficit

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
(255,358) (286,308) (276,941) (217,818) (237,899)
254,875 257,579 239,387 193,349 187,733
(483) (28.727) (37.554)  (24.469) (50.166)

The five year history of experience gains and losses on Fund liabilities is as follows:

Experience gain/(ioss) on Fund liabilities

% of the present value of Fund liabilities

2018
£000

2,358
0.90%

2017
£000

(987)
-0.34%

2016 2015 2014
£000 £000 £000
2,168 8,986 -
0.78% 4.13% -

Cereal Partners UK participates in the Nestlé UK Pension Fund {the Fund), which includes a defined
benefit and a defined contribution section. The partnership made contributions of £404,000 to the Fund

during 2018 (2017 - £333,000).

Cereal Partners UK is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the Fund, as
each employer is exposed to actuarial risks associated with the current and former employees of other
entities participating in the fund. Contributions to the scheme have therefere been accounted for as if it
were a defined contribution scheme. An update of the whole fund was prepared at 31 December 2018 by
an independent qualified actuary for the purposes of FRS 102. At that date the liabilities exceeded the
assets by £3,500,000 (2017 - £334,233,000).

OPERATING LEASES

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows :

Less than one year
Between one and five years

Land and buildings

2018
£000

1,039
659

1,698
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2017
£000

Other
2018 2017
£000 £000
685 825
865 1,161
1,560 1.886
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Cereal Partners U.K. is a jointly owned venture of Nestlé U.K. Limited and General Mills Canada Holding
Three Corporation.

The ultimate parent of Nestlé UK. Limited is Nestlé S.A. and the ultimate parent of General Mills Canada
Holding Three Corporation is-General Mills inc.

Nestle U.K. Ltd and Nestle Ireland Ltd act as undisclosed agent for Cereal Partners U.K.

Sales Expenses

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000
Entities with control, jeint control,
or significant influence
Nestlé U.K. Ltd 203,963 207,823 30,713 36,038
General Mills Inc. - - 128 423
CPW SA - - 10,548 10,967

203,963 207.823 41,389 47.428
Other related parties
Nestlé Ireland Ltd 8,714 9,103 1,565 2,048
CPW SARL 4 456 4,509 - -
CP France 15 17 11,376 14,417
CP Greece 33 12 - -
CP Israel 523 674 - -
CP Germany 264 338 - 2
CP Poland - 8 4,171 3,741
Nestrade SA 201 9 1,142 -
Nestlé Czechoslovakia - - - 3
Nestle Poland - - - 2
Nestle Spain 19 189 - -
Nestlé Suisse 67 137 - -
Nestlé Portugal 77 120 - -
Nestlé Austria b4 92 - -
Nestlé Malta 71 60 - -
Nestié Middle East 163 177 - -
Nestlé SA - - 104 116
Nestec SA 155 - 63 76
Nestle Australia 231 29 11 1
Nestlé France - - 53 121
Nestlé Germany - - 13 18
Nestle Globe Centre - - 996 1,085
Nestlé Netherlands - - 9 14
Nestlé Operational Services Worldwide - - 68 66
Nestlé Purina U.K. - - 3 5
Nespresso U.K. - - 4 4
Nestlé U.K. Pension Trust - - - 62
Nestlé Malaysia 22 - - -
San Pellegrino Spa. - - - 4
Nestle Sweden 6 - 6 -
Nestle Denmark - - 2 -
15,071 15,474 19.586 21,785
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Entities with control, joint control
or significant influence

Nestlé U K. Lid

General Mills Inc.

CPW SA

Other related parties
Nestlé Ireland Ltd
CPW SARL

CP Germany

CP France

CP Greece

CP Australia

CP Mexico

CP Poland

Nestlé Austria

Nestle Czechoslovakia
Nestle Germany
Nestle Malta

Nestle Nederlands
Nestle Poland

Nestle Spain

Nestlé Suisse
Nestrade SA

Osem Food Industries
Nestlé Manufacturing Malaysia
Nestlé Globe Centre
Nestlé France
Nespresso U.K.
Nestec SA

Nestlé Operational Services Worldwide
Nestlé Middle East
Nestlé Sweden

Nestle Denmark

CONTROLLING PARTY

2018
£000

14,909

14,909

1,040
196

Receivables

Cutstanding
2017
£000

12,042

1,266
216
15

29

o 0000

in the opinion of the members there is no overall controiling party.
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Creditors
Outstanding
2018 2017
£000 £000
3,675 3,557
58 9
949 810
4,682 4,37
234 271
1,528 2,184
1 -
- 1
165 175
- 3
- 1
2 2
- 2
232 -
1 -
76 100
51 19
1 1
20 5
4 1
6 -
2 -
2333 2.765



